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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - X 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
 - against - 
 
ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN, 
 
 Defendant. 
 
- - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - X 

 
 
TO BE FILED UNDER SEAL 
 
C O M P L A I N T  

(18 U.S.C. §  1349) 

No. 25-MJ-350 

 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK, SS: 
 

Amy Giarrusso, being duly sworn, deposes and states that she is a Special Agent 

with the Federal Bureau of Investigation, duly appointed according to law and acting as such. 

In or about and between May 2023 and June 2025, both dates being approximate 

and inclusive, within the Eastern District of New York and elsewhere, the defendant 

ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN, together with others, did knowingly and intentionally 

conspire to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud the Betting Platforms, and to obtain money 

and property from the Betting Platforms by means of one or more materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations and promises, and for the purpose of executing such scheme and 

artifice, to transmit and cause to be transmitted by means of wire communication in interstate 

and foreign commerce writings, signs, signals, pictures and sounds, contrary to Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1343. 

(Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1349 and 3551 et seq.) 
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The source of your deponent’s information and the grounds for her belief are as 

follows:1 

1.  I am a Special Agent with the Federal Bureau of Investigation (“FBI”) and 

have been involved in the investigation of numerous cases involving wire fraud, money 

laundering offenses and economic crimes.  I am familiar with the facts and circumstances set 

forth below from my participation in the investigation; my review of the investigative file, 

including the defendant’s criminal history record; and from reports of other law enforcement 

officers involved in the investigation.   

2.  On November 5, 2025, a grand jury sitting in the Eastern District of New 

York returned a four-count indictment charging two Major League Baseball pitchers for the 

Cleveland Guardians—Emmanuel Clase de la Cruz (“Clase”) and Luis Leandro Ortiz Ribera 

(“Ortiz”)—with wire fraud conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, honest services wire 

fraud conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, conspiracy to influence sports contests by 

bribery, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 224, and money laundering conspiracy, in violation of 18 

U.S.C. § 1956(h).  The indictment is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 1.  

As detailed below, the investigation has revealed that the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ 

GERMOSEN was a co-conspirator in the charged scheme.     

 
1 Because the purpose of this Complaint is to set forth only those facts necessary to 

establish probable cause to arrest, I have not described all the relevant facts and circumstances of 
which I am aware.  In addition, throughout this complaint, quotations from text messages 
originally in Spanish have been translated from Spanish to English. 
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BACKGROUND 

A. Major League Baseball and Relevant Individuals 
 

3.  Major League Baseball (“MLB”) was a professional baseball league in 

North America composed of 30 teams, including the Cleveland Guardians, the New York Mets, 

the Minnesota Twins, the Boston Red Sox, the Cincinnati Reds, the Los Angeles Dodgers, the 

Seattle Mariners, and the St. Louis Cardinals.   

4.  Clase and Ortiz were MLB players and pitchers on the Cleveland 

Guardians.  Clase was a relief pitcher and Ortiz was a starting pitcher.  They were both citizens 

of the Dominican Republic.   

5.  MLB rules prohibited MLB players from gambling on MLB games in 

which they were involved.  Specifically, MLB Rule 21 provided, in relevant part, that “any 

player . . . who shall bet any sum whatsoever upon any baseball game in connection with which 

the bettor has a duty to perform, shall be declared permanently ineligible” to play professional 

baseball.  MLB’s sports betting policy further provided that, “Major League Players may not 

ask others to place bets on their behalf, knowingly benefit financially from, or knowingly assist 

with bets placed by others.”  With limited exceptions for personal use—such as a time sensitive 

text message to a spouse—MLB rules also prohibited MLB players from utilizing cellular 

telephones during MLB games.      

6.  Under the terms of their contracts with the Cleveland Guardians, Clase 

and Ortiz agreed to accept and abide by all MLB rules, including the prohibition on betting on 

baseball games and the in-game use of cellular telephones.  Their contracts with the Cleveland 

Guardians further provided that each player owed a duty of loyalty to the Cleveland Guardians 
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and “pledge[d] himself to the American public and to the [Cleveland Guardians] to conform to 

high standards of personal conduct, fair play and good sportsmanship.”   

B. The Betting Platforms 
 

7.  Betting Platform-1 and Betting Platform-2 (collectively, the “Betting 

Platforms”), entities the identities of which are known to the Grand Jury, were sportsbooks that 

operated online platforms and physical sportsbooks, usually located at casinos, that offered 

sports betting relating to, among other things, MLB games and individual players’ performances 

in MLB games.   

8.  All bettors wagering on the Betting Platforms were required to agree to 

their terms of use (the “Terms of Use”), which provided, in sum, substance and in relevant part, 

that users were prohibited from (i) wagering in connection with sports contests or individual 

players’ statistical performances if the users had access to any pre-release, confidential 

information or other information that was not available to all other wagerers, including any 

information provided by a professional athlete, such as non-public injury information; and 

(ii) placing wagers as an agent or proxy for any individual other than the account holder.  

THE FRAUDULENT SCHEME 

9.  As detailed in the indictment, Clase and Ortiz conspired with bettors 

(referred to as the “Bettors” in the indictment and below) and others to rig pitches in MLB games 

in order to profit from fraudulent wagers by the Bettors on the Betting Platforms that were made 

based on that inside information.  Often, the Bettors wagered based on inside information that a 

given pitch would be either a ball or a batter hit by pitch (“Ball/HBP”), as opposed to a strike, or 

on the speed of a given pitch.  As detailed below, the investigation has revealed that the 

defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN is a co-conspirator in the charged scheme.  
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Specifically, the investigation shows that VASQUEZ was an intermediary between the Bettors 

and Clase and received proceeds from the Bettors’ fraudulent wagers on rigged pitches thrown 

by Clase.   

10.  The defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN is closely 

associated with Clase and also knew Ortiz.  For example, based on my review of messages 

obtained pursuant to judicially-authorized search warrants for phones belonging to Clase and 

other Bettors, I know that between May 2023 and June 2025, VASQUEZ and Clase exchanged 

thousands of messages in direct messages to each other and in group chats with other Bettors, 

some of which messages are described below.  For example, on or about May 29, 2023, 

VASQUEZ sent Clase and others a screenshot image from a group video chat with Clase, one of 

the Bettors who is identified in the indictment as “Bettor-1,” and two other individuals.  

A redacted version of that image is included below, with Clase unredacted on the left in a red 

circle and VASQUEZ unredacted on the right in a blue circle:   

 

Case 1:25-mj-00350-PCG     Document 1     Filed 12/10/25     Page 5 of 36 PageID #: 63



6 
 

11.  Ticketing data for MLB games obtained from MLB indicates that, 

between on or about April 15, 2024, and April 17, 2025, Clase set aside tickets for MLB games 

under the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN’s name on approximately 28 

occasions.  The records list the “relation” between VASQUEZ and Clase as “family” and 

“friends.”  Similarly, Ortiz—Clase’s co-defendant and co-conspirator in the charged scheme—

also set aside MLB tickets for VASQUEZ on April 16, 2025, under the “family” designation.   

12.  Based on my review of text messages, betting data, and financial records, 

there is probable cause to believe that the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN 

conspired with Clase and Bettors to profit from Clase’s fixed pitches.   

13.  As detailed in the indictment, between approximately May 2023 and June 

2025, the Bettors placed over a hundred fraudulent bets on pitches thrown by Clase.  See Ex. 1 

¶ 14.  During that period, records from Zelle reflect that the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ 

GERMOSEN sent approximately $10,000 to Bettor-1 and approximately $12,000 to another one 

of the Bettors identified in the indictment as “Bettor-2.”  During the same period, Bettor-1 sent 

VASQUEZ approximately $43,000, and Bettor-2 sent VASQUEZ approximately $6,000.  

Based on my training, experience, and knowledge of the investigation to date, I believe that 

several of these transactions reflect VASQUEZ either providing money to the Bettors to wager 

on Clase’s pitches or receiving proceeds from fraudulent wagers on Clase’s pitches.      

14.  For example, on or about May 2, 2023, the defendant ROBINSON 

VASQUEZ GERMOSEN sent $2,000 via Zelle to Bettor-1.  The following day, Bettor-1 and 

three other Bettors won approximately $47,000 by placing multiple bets on Betting Platform-2 

on the speed of Clase’s pitches.  The following day, VASQUEZ sent an audio message to a 

phone associated with Clase saying, “When you guys go to throw it, try to do about 10, 20, or 
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30,000, if you guys want to do that, that’s fine.  But when you throw 100 and over, let me know 

so that we can all put down our stuff.  Remember we are a team of 4 now . . . . we are all in this 

together.  Something of 300,000 or a million if you want to do that, let’s go.  Every time there 

is an aggressive play, count on us.”  Based on my training, experience, and knowledge of the 

investigation, I understand that VASQUEZ was telling Clase that he was working with the 

Bettors, including Bettor-1, to wager on Clase’s pitches, and wanted to be told when Clase would 

throw a fast pitch so he and the other Bettors could maximize their wagers (“[b]ut when you 

throw 100 and over, let me know so that we can all put down our stuff”).  

15.  Similarly, as alleged in the indictment, on or about May 19, 2023, after 

receiving advance information from Clase, Bettor-1 and several other Bettors won approximately 

$27,000 on Betting Platform-2 by wagering that a pitch thrown by Clase would be faster than 

94.95 mph.  See Ex. 1 ¶ 15.  On or about two days later, Bettor-1 sent approximately $1,000 via 

Zelle to the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN.  Based on my training, 

experience, and knowledge of this investigation, I believe that these funds were VASQUEZ’s 

proceeds of the fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 

16.  On another occasion, on or about September 19, 2024, the defendant 

ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN sent approximately $1,000 to Bettor-1 via Zelle.  Later 

that day, Bettor-1 and another Bettor won approximately $6,000 on Betting Platform-2 by 

wagering that a pitch thrown by Clase would be a Ball/HBP and would be slower than 99.45 

mph.  Thereafter, Bettor-1 sent approximately $1,100 via Zelle to VASQUEZ.  Based on my 

training, experience, and knowledge of this investigation, I believe that these funds were 

VASQUEZ’s proceeds of the fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 
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17.  As alleged in the indictment, on or about April 12, 2025, after receiving 

advance information from Clase, Bettor-1 and several of the Bettors won approximately $15,000 

on Betting Platform-2 by placing multiple bets that a pitch thrown by CLASE would both be a 

Ball/HBP and would be slower than 98.45 mph.  See Ex. 1 ¶ 18.  On or about the following 

day, Bettor-1 sent approximately $3,100 via Zelle to the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ 

GERMOSEN.  Based on my training, experience, and knowledge of this investigation, I believe 

that these funds were VASQUEZ’s proceeds of the fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 

18.  In another instance, on or about April 29, 2025, Bettor-1 and several other 

Bettors won approximately $14,000 on Betting Platform-2 by wagering that a pitch thrown by 

Clase would be a Ball/HBP and would be slower than 98.95 mph.  The following day, on or 

about April 30, 2025, Bettor-1 sent approximately $3,500 via Zelle to VASQUEZ.  Based on 

my training, experience, and knowledge of this investigation, I believe that these funds were 

VASQUEZ’s proceeds of the fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 

19.  The defendant ROBINSON VASQEUZ GERMOSEN also participated in 

the scheme while attending Clase’s MLB playoff games.  For example, on or about October 5, 

2024, VASQUEZ, Bettor-1, and other Bettors attended an MLB playoff game involving the 

Cleveland Guardians in Ohio.  Text messages and MLB ticketing data that I have reviewed 

show that Clase obtained tickets for VASQUEZ to attend the game.  That day, Bettor-1 and 

another Bettor won approximately $4,000 on Betting Platform-2 by wagering that a pitch thrown 

by Clase would be a Ball/HBP and would be slower than 99.45 mph.  The following day, 

Bettor-1 sent approximately $1,400 to VASQUEZ via Zelle.  Based on my training, experience, 

and knowledge of this investigation, I believe that these funds were VASQUEZ’s proceeds of the 

fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 
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20.  The defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN also received 

communications indicating that Clase was being paid for throwing fixed pitches.  For example, 

as alleged in the indictment, on or about April 12, 2025, after receiving inside information from 

Clase, Bettor-1 and several other Bettors won approximately $15,000 on Betting Platform-2 by 

placing multiple bets that a specific pitch would be a Ball/HBP and slower than 98.45 mph.2  

See Ex. 1 ¶ 18.  The following day, on or about April 13, 2025, Clase asked Bettor-1 by text 

message whether Bettor-1 had been able to “wager anything.”  See Ex. 1 ¶ 19.  After Bettor-1 

responded, in sum and substance, that Bettor-1 had bet and won money, Clase directed Bettor-1 

to “send some of it to DR,” referring to the Dominican Republic.  See id.  Clase provided 

Bettor-1 with contact information for a recipient for the money and directed Bettor-1 to “[s]end it 

as if it were someone else.”  See id.  Bettor-1 subsequently sent VASQUEZ screenshot images 

of Bettor-1’s text message exchange with Clase described above.  In addition, on or about the 

same day, April 13, 2025, Bettor-1 sent VASQUEZ approximately $3,000 via Zelle.  Based on 

my training, experience, and knowledge of this investigation, I believe that these funds were 

VASQUEZ’s proceeds of the fraudulent pitch rigging scheme. 

21.  As part of the investigation, I have reviewed several additional messages 

sent from and received by the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN that are 

consistent with VASQUEZ’s participating in the charged scheme.  For instance, as described in 

the indictment, Clase threw a fixed pitch during an MLB game on May 17, 2025.  See Ex. 1 

¶ 20.  At approximately 8:36 p.m., Bettor-1, Bettor-2, and several other Bettors won 

approximately $10,000 on Betting Platform-2 by placing multiple bets that a pitch thrown by 

 
2  Bettor-1 also placed two additional bets on Clase’s pitches thrown during this 

game.  One of those bets lost, while another bet was cashed out.   
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Clase would both be a Ball/HBP and would be slower than 97.95 mph.  See id.  Approximately 

twenty minutes later, Bettor-1 sent the following screenshot image to VASQUEZ of Bettor-1’s 

winning wager on Clase’s pitch: 
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22.  On or about the following day, May 18, 2025, the defendant ROBINSON 

VASQUEZ GERMOSEN texted Clase directing him to “throw a rock at the first rooster in 

today’s fight.”  Clase responded, “Yes, of course, that’s an easy toss to that rooster.”  Clase 

later wrote, “Yes, totally easy,” adding, “yes, low.”  Based on my knowledge of the 

investigation, I know that the Spanish word for rooster (“gallo”) was a code word used by Clase 

and his co-conspirators to refer to fixed pitches.  Accordingly, I understand this exchange to 

refer to throwing a ball (“yes, low.”).3  Based on my knowledge of the investigation, I know that 

although the Cleveland Guardians played on May 18, 2025, Clase did not enter the game, which 

prevented him from fulfilling the plan to throw a ball at the first batter in the game.   

23.  In September 2025, attorneys for Clase informed the government, in sum 

and substance, that they met with the defendant ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN as part of 

their own investigation into Clase’s participation in a pitch-fixing scheme, which scheme they 

deny took place.  During those meetings, according to counsel, VASQUEZ denied any 

knowledge or involvement in the criminal pitch-rigging scheme described in the indictment.  

The attorneys prepared a declaration for VASQUEZ to sign, which provided that VASQUEZ did 

not bet on Clase’s pitches, did not receive advanced inside information from Clase about his 

pitches, and did not overhear Clase give others such information.  Clase’s attorneys told the 

government that VASQUEZ orally stated to counsel that the declaration was accurate, but, after 

calling his sister, elected to leave the meeting without signing it.  Based on my knowledge of the 

 
3  As part of the investigation, I know that Clase gambled on rooster fights, which is 

legal and popular in the Dominican Republic.  I have also identified several text messages 
where Clase appears to make legitimate references to roosters.  However, based on my 
familiarity with the investigation, including my review of several electronic devices seized 
pursuant to judicially-authorized warrants, I have determined that this particular exchange refers 
to a fixed pitch based on the context of the exchange and my review of Clase’s messages with 
Bettor-1 around this time.     
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investigation, I assess that VASQUEZ did not sign the declaration under penalty of perjury 

because he knew that it was false and criminal to do so.  

WHEREFORE, your deponent respectfully requests that the defendant

ROBINSON VASQUEZ GERMOSEN, be dealt with according to law.

Amy Giarrusso
Special Agent, Federal Bureau of Investigation

Sworn to before me this 
10th day of December, 2025

____________________________________________
THE HONORABLE CHERYL L. POLLAK
UNITED STATES MAGISTRATE JUDGE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

0th day of December, 2

___________________
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